
JUNCTION CITY/GEARY COUNTY
METROPOLITAN PLANNING COMMISSION

BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS

MINUTES

August 9, 2012
7:00 p.m.

Members Members Staff
(Present) (Absent)

Brandon Dibben Mike Ryan         David Yearout
Maureen Gustafson Chuck Mowry         Shari Lenhart
John Moyer
Ken Mortensen
Mike Watson

1. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL

Chair Gustafson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. and noted all members present 
except Commissioner Ryan and Commissioner Mowry.  A quorum was declared.

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Commissioner Moyer moved to approve the minutes of the July 12, 2012, meeting as 
presented.   Commissioner  Dibben seconded the motion and it  passed unanimously.

3. OLD BUSINESS 

Item No. 1 – Case No. FP-07-01-12 – Final Plat for Alexander Addition, to the City 
of Junction City, Kansas.

Chair  Gustafson  opened  the  discussion  on  the  request  of  Kaw Valley  Engineering, 
agent, on behalf of Out West Investments, LLC, owner, requesting final plat approval for 
Alexander  Addition,  a 6.5 acre tract  with an existing house located along McFarland 
Road and south of the former Country Club property.  The Chair noted this case was 
continued from the July 12th meeting.

Mr. Yearout stated the staff report addresses the various issues raised by the Planning 
Commission  at  the  last  meeting  and  that  the  applicant  was  to  provide  information 
regarding those issues.  The developer has not addressed the issues in question to date 
and it is staff’s recommendation to continue this matter until the September meeting to 
allow the developer or developer’s agent to work with City staff  to address the items 
listed  in  the staff  report.   Mr.  Yearout  noted he had discussed  this  matter  with  Mr. 
Alexander earlier in the day and was advised the continuance was acceptable.

There being no further discussion, the Chair called for a motion.



MPC/BZA Minutes
August 9, 2012

Commissioner Watson moved that Case No. FP-07-01-12, concerning the request of 
Kaw Valley Engineering,  agent,  on behalf  of  Out West  Investments,  LLC, owner,  for 
approval of the Alexander Addition to Junction City, Kansas, creating 5 lots on the north 
side of McFarland Road on the former Dorothy Johnson property, be continued to the 
September  meeting  and  that  the  developer  or  developer’s  agent  work  with  staff  to 
address the items stated in the staff report.  Commissioner Dibben seconded the motion 
and it carried unanimously.

Item No. 2 – Case No. TA-07-01-12 – Public Hearing to consider an amendment to 
the Junction City Zoning Regulations.

Chair  Gustafson  reopened  the  public  hearing  on  the  application  initiated  by  the 
Metropolitan  Planning  Commission  to  amend  the  Junction  City  Zoning  Regulations 
concerning  the  range  of  permitted  home  occupations  and  relative  performance 
standards and asked for an updated staff report.  The Chair noted this item was tabled 
at the July meeting to allow for further discussion and deliberation on the part of  the 
Commission.  

Mr. Yearout stated that after last month’s discussion, staff  attempted to separate the 
home occupation  “uses  allowed”  into  single  family  dwellings  and  duplex/multi  family 
units.  Mr. Yearout indicated that, after considerable evaluation and research, staff  is 
recommending that home occupations be allowed by right in single family residences 
only.  For anyone that wants to establish some type of business in a duplex or multiple 
family dwelling, a Special Use Permit can be sought.  Mr. Yearout also pointed out that 
the proposed amendment takes into consideration the “storage” of product at the home 
(with guidelines) which is currently prohibited by the existing regulations.  He reminded 
the MPC the problems with the current restrictions as noted in the staff report, and that 
this was begun of a desire to establish a “gun dealer” as a home occupation.

Commissioner Moyer stated he felt that limiting the home occupations to single family 
residences was best and the Special Use Permit for other areas a good idea.

Chair Gustafson asked for staff  direction on permitting public comment.  Mr. Yearout 
stated this is a continued public hearing and to allow for additional public input.  Chair 
Gustafson asked for comments.  There being no response, Chair Gustafson closed the 
public hearing and asked for any additional comments from the Commission or staff.

Mr. Yearout reiterated that the proposed text amendment provides a more realistic basis 
of  the actual operations associated with home occupations occurring within the City. 
Currently any home occupation “storing” product is technically in violation of the existing 
regulations.  The proposed amendment addresses that issue along with expanding on 
allowed uses and the standards for home occupations.

There being no further questions or comments, Chair Gustafson called for a motion.

Commissioner Mortensen moved that Case No. TA-07-01-12, a proposal to amend the 
Junction City Zoning Regulations by modifying the language concerning permitted home 
occupations and the standards for home occupations, be recommended for approval to 
the City Commission of the City of Junction City with the changes noted and for the 
reasons stated at this public hearing.  Commissioner Moyer seconded the motion and it 
passed unanimously.

2



MPC/BZA Minutes
August 9, 2012

4. NEW BUSINESS 

Item No. 1 – Case No. Z-08-01-12 – Public Hearing to rezone property from “CSR” 
Service Commercial  Restricted District  and “CCS” Central  Commercial  Special 
District to “RM” Multiple Family Residential District.

Chair  Gustafson  opened  the  public  hearing  on  the  application  of  the  Metropolitan 
Planning Commission to rezone from “CSR” Service Commercial Restricted District and 
“CCS” Central Commercial Special District to “RM” Multiple Family Residential District 
the residential properties generally bounded by Franklin Street on the east; 12th Street 
on the north; 10th Street on the south; and the alley east of Washington Street on the 
west in Junction City, Kansas, and asked for the staff report.

Mr. Yearout  stated this situation came to light when Self  Help Housing applied for  a 
building permit  at  the intersection of  11th & Franklin  Streets.   It  was determined the 
property  was  commercially  zoned  and  residential  uses  are  prohibited.   At  the  last 
meeting, the MPC voted to hold a public hearing to consider rezoning several residential 
properties in the immediate area to remove the nonconformity.

Mr. Yearout stated this application addresses the same issues as cases done earlier 
this year along 7th Street and areas around 8th Street and Eisenhower, which removed 
the commercial zoning for residentially used properties.  Just as before, if a landowner 
wishes to retain the commercial zoning, they may do so if the parcel is identified. 

Mr.  Yearout  indicated  that  several  phone  calls  were  received from property  owners 
along  Washington  Street,  most  were  concerned  this  was  proposing  to  rezone  their 
commercially-used properties to residential.   Once staff  explained the purpose was to 
make the residences conforming and no changes were being made to the commercial 
properties,  there  were  no  objections.   The  existing  vacant  lots  will  be  rezoned  to 
residential, with the exception of the one owned by JC Auto which abuts their property to 
the east.  

Mr. Yearout stated that based on the reasons stated in the staff report and as stated at 
the public hearing, staff is recommending approval of the rezoning for residentially used 
properties as outlined.

There  being  no  questions  of  staff,  Chair  Gustafson  opened  the  hearing  for  public 
comment.   There  being  no  public  comments  or  additional  questions  of  staff,  Chair 
Gustafson closed the public hearing and called for a motion.

Commissioner Moyer moved that Case No. Z-08-01-12, concerning the request initiated 
by the Metropolitan Planning Commission to consider the rezoning from “CSR” Service 
Commercial Restricted District and “CCS” Central Commercial Special District to “RM” 
Multiple Family Residential District the residentially used properties in the area generally 
bounded by Franklin  Street  on the east,  12th Street  on the north,  10th Street  on the 
south,  and  the  alley  east  of  Washington  Street  on  the  west  be  recommended  for 
approval by the City Commission based on the reasoning stated in the staff report and 
as presented at this public hearing.  Commissioner Mortensen seconded the motion and 
it passed unanimously.

3



MPC/BZA Minutes
August 9, 2012

RECESS  AS THE METROPOLITAN PLANNING  COMMISSION  AND CONVENE  AS THE 
BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS.

Chair Gustafson declared the Metropolitan Planning Commission recessed and convened as 
the Board of Zoning Appeals.

5. OLD BUSINESS - None.

6. NEW BUSINESS

Item No. 1 – Case No. BZAV-08-01-12 – Public Hearing to consider a variance to 
decrease street yard setback.

Chair  Gustafson  opened  the  public  hearing  on  the  application  submitted  by  Dan 
Pfizenmaier,  Director  of  Self  Help  housing,  agent,  on  behalf  of  Harold  and  Colin 
Glessner,  owners,  requesting  a  variance  on  the  street  yard  setback  along  Franklin 
Street to allow for single-family home construction at 140 East 11th Street, Junction City, 
Kansas, and called for the staff report.

Mr. Yearout stated this property is within the area for rezoning as outlined in the case 
just heard by the MPC and recommended for approval to the Governing Body.  It  is 
anticipated the rezoning will  be approved;  therefore,  it  is appropriate to consider  the 
variance request.

Mr. Yearout stated this request falls within the realm of the Board of Zoning Appeals 
authority  to  grant  variances;  provided,  the five  criteria  standards  are met  which  are 
outlined in detail in the staff report.  This is a corner lot with a 50-foot width.  The agent 
is requesting  a variance from the required 25-foot  set  back along Franklin  Street  to 
reduce that to a 12-foot street side yard setback.  The home will face 11th Street and the 
site plan indicates the required 25-foot front yard setback will be provided for 11th Street. 
The proposed setback along Franklin Street will still be greater than some of the existing 
homes along Franklin Street in that neighborhood.

Mr. Yearout indicated the proposed location of the home is not out of character with the 
neighborhood.  He pointed out that most of the homes in this area and throughout older 
parts  of  the  city  do  not  meet  the  setback  requirements  on corner  lots.   Also,  strict 
application of the zoning regulation setback requirement would make construction of a 
new home on this lot an impossibility.

Mr. Yearout stated that after considering all the factors involved with a variance, staff is 
recommending approval of the requested variance for the reasons set out in the staff 
report.

There  being  no  questions  of  staff,  Chair  Gustafson  opened  the  meeting  for  public 
comments.  The Chair acknowledged the presence of Dan Pfizenmaier and asked if he 
wished to speak.  Mr. Pfizenmaier indicated he was present to answer questions, if any. 

The question was asked if there would be any driveways to the home off of 11th Street or 
Franklin  Street.   Mr.  Pfizenmaier  stated  the  attached  garage  faces  north  and  is 
accessible only from the alley along the north property line.

4



MPC/BZA Minutes
August 9, 2012

There being no further comments, Chair Gustafson closed the public hearing and called 
for a motion.

Commissioner Mortensen moved that Case No. BZAV-08-01-12, the request of Daniel 
Pfizenmaier, Director, Self Help Housing, agent, on behalf of Harold and Colin Glessner, 
owners,  requesting  a  variance  to  decrease  the  Franklin  Street  setback  for  property 
located at 140 East 11th Street, Junction City, Kansas, to allow for construction of a new 
single-family home be so ordered by the Board of Zoning Appeals, thereby allowing the 
construction of the new home with a street side yard setback of 12 feet, based on the 
evidence and conclusions as stated in the staff report and as presented at this public 
hearing.  Commissioner Moyer seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.

Item No. 2 – Case No. BZAV-08-02-12 – Public Hearing to consider a variance to 
decrease front yard setback.

Before the Chair could open the public hearing on this case, Mr. Yearout stated that a 
clerical error was reported by the applicant on the property owner notification letter.  As 
a result,  this case has been determined to have procedural errors and will be set for 
public  hearing  at  the  September  meeting.   The  notice  of  public  hearing  will  be 
republished and mailings sent to surrounding property owners.  Mr. Yearout indicated no 
further action by the Board is necessary at this time.

ADJOURN  AS BOARD OF ZONING  APPEALS AND RECONVENE  AS METROPOLITAN 
PLANNING COMMISSION

There being no further business for the Board, Chair Gustafson declared the Board of Zoning 
appeals adjourned and reconvene as the Metropolitan Planning Commission. 

7. GENERAL DISCUSSION

Item No. 1 – Update on creation of MPO

Mr.  Yearout  stated  discussions  are  continuing  regarding  the  establishment  of  a 
Metropolitan  Planning  Organization  (MPO)  for  the  Manhattan  area  as  required  by 
federal  law now that  Manhattan  has  reached  more  than  50,000  in  population.   Mr. 
Yearout noted he attended a meeting in Manhattan relative to establishing boundaries of 
the  MPO.   A  technical  committee  is  being  formed  to  work  on  getting  boundaries 
established, and look at organizational and financial issues for the MPO.  The plan for 
years  has been to operate  this  through the Flint  Hills  Regional  Council  and include 
Junction City, Geary County and Fort Riley in the area.  The final decision on what the 
MPO area looks like rests with the City of Manhattan.

Commissioner Watson asked if  this area would be consistent with the US-77 corridor 
plan.  Mr. Yearout stated the proposed boundary for Geary County would include all of 
the area included in the current construction program, but would not extend all the way 
to the north end of the County along Highway 77; and would not extend to the county 
line on K-18 Highway.

Commissioner Mortensen asked about the affect on Ft. Riley.  Mr. Yearout said “none” 
regarding any internal improvements on post, but the planning should address issues 

5



MPC/BZA Minutes
August 9, 2012

such as gate improvements and external transportation needs.  As a result,  Ft. Riley 
should be at the table.  

Mr.  Yearout  also  noted  there  will  be  some  impact  on  the  Comprehensive  Plan  for 
Junction  City and Geary County,  but  we would  still  have control  over  transportation 
improvement planning for our jurisdiction.

Item No. 2 – Zoning Regulations – Churches and Schools

Mr.  Yearout  stated  that  the  Metropolitan  Planning  Commission  requested  other 
interested stakeholders be invited for further discussion of this item before considering a 
possible  zoning  text  amendment.   Mr.  Yearout  recognized  that  Mr.  Tom  Weigand, 
Executive Director  of  the  Chamber  of  Commerce,  was present.   He stated that  the 
Economic Development Commission was also notified.

Mr. Yearout reviewed the staff  report on this issue.  He stated the staff is inclined to 
encourage that churches and schools require a Special Use Permit in order to establish 
a new location.   Further,  there should  be some consideration  to prohibiting  them in 
some commercial and industrial districts because of the incompatibility of uses.  This is 
especially true in commercial districts that allow restaurants and drinking establishments 
because of the impact on licensing of those facilities when close to a church or school.

Mr. Weigand confirmed that point and stated the Economic Development Commission 
was only concerned about the need to be more involved in where these uses can go 
and to use the approval process to mitigate problems and limit potential conflicts.

Mr. Yearout noted this topic will be addressed at the Planning and Zoning Workshop in 
Wichita  and  that  it  may  be  appropriate  to  obtain  that  input  before  drafting  a  final 
recommendation.  The MPC agreed and the consensus was to have a draft prepared for 
review at the September meeting based on the information obtained at the Workshop.

8. ADJOURNMENT

Commissioner Mortensen moved to adjourn, Commissioner Moyer seconded the motion 
and it passed unanimously.  Chair Gustafson declared the meeting adjourned at 8:09 
p.m.

PASSED AND APPROVED this __________ day of September, 2012.

_______________________________
Maureen Gustafson, Chair

ATTEST:

_______________________________
David L. Yearout, Secretary

6


